
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO 

EASTERN DIVISION 
 

 
PATRICK W. HEAPS, et al.,   : 
 
   Plaintiffs,  :  
       CASE NO. 2:10 CV 729 
 v.     : 
        JUDGE FROST 
SAFELITE SOLUTIONS, LLC, et al., : 

 MAGISTRATE JUDGE KING 
Defendants.  : 

 
 

PLAINTIFFS’  RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS MOTION TO STRIKE (Doc. No. 19) and 
SUPPLEMENTAL MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION 
FOR CONDITIONAL CLASS CERTIFICATION, EXPEDITED DISCOVERY, 
AND COURT-SUPERVISED NOTICE TO POTENTIAL OPT-IN PLAINTIFFS 

 
 In its Motion to Strike, Safelite has accused Plaintiffs of a bait-and-switch.  The 

accusation is based on Safelite’s mischaracterization of Plaintiffs’ “primary argument” or focus 

in this collective and class action.  Safelite would reduce this action to a misunderstanding about 

whether for payroll purposes the daily hours of Customer Services Representatives (CSRs) are 

commenced via telephone or computer.   

 Plaintiffs have not based this action on such a trivial distinction.  Instead, they have 

consistently asserted that Safelite has not paid them for time spent booting up, training during 

breaks, and signing off.  Safelite opposed the collective action motion by arguing and submitting 

through affidavit testimony that it was indeed paying CSRs for all their time, and Plaintiffs 

responded by rebutting that argument with their own and other CSRs’ affidavits.   

 In Safelite’s Opposition Memorandum at 1-2 (emphasis noted) and the attached affidavit, 

the meaningful distinction was joined: “Safelite requires its CSRs to first log into the 

timekeeping system through the telephone at their workstations.  This begins their paid shift.  

After they’ve logged into the phone system, CSRs boot up their computers.”  In their Reply 
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Memorandum and the attached affidavits, Plaintiffs expose that statement as an inaccurate 

rendition of historical and common practice.  Before this litigation was commenced, what 

“begins their paid shift” occurred after they had booted up, and the same procedure had been 

followed for signing off and ending their paid shift and for training during breaks. 

 Pursuant to S.D. Ohio Civ.R. 7.2(d), “Evidence used to support a reply memorandum 

shall be limited to that needed to rebut the positions argued in memoranda in opposition.”  See 

Peters v. Lincoln Elec. Co., 285 F.3d 456, 476 (6th Cir. 2002) (holding that witness's affidavit 

was timely submitted with reply brief because “Smolik's affidavit supported Lincoln's reply 

brief, which contested issues brought to light in Peters' opposing brief.”).  Accord McGinnis v. 

Southeast Anesthesia Assocs., 161 F.R.D. 41, 42 & n. 1 (W.D.N.C.1995) (allowing affidavits to 

accompany reply because they supported reply brief, not original motion).   

 As in Peters, 285 F.3d at 476, “no element of surprise exists in this case.”  Rather than 

excerpt isolated statements near the end of an argument section in one of Plaintiffs’ 

memorandum, Safelite could and did rely on clear and consistent pleading about Plaintiffs’ 

position.  The Complaint, ¶ 42, delineates specifically the collective action: 

 The collective class, or Opt-In Class, which Plaintiffs seek to represent is 
composed of and defined as follows [“Collective Class”]:  

 
 All current or former Customer Service Representatives employed 
during the past three years by Defendants who, when the time at the start 
of each scheduled shift they spent booting up is included, worked more 
than 40 hours a week and were compensated for such overtime work at 
an amount equaling less than one and one-half times the Customer 
Service Representative’s regular rate of pay based on a 40-hour 
workweek. 
 

From the outset of the Complaint, this delineation was unequivocally stated:  

Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all similarly situated 
individuals, bring this collective and class action against Defendants 
Safelite Solutions, LLC, and Safelite Group, Inc. for monetary, 
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declaratory, and injunctive relief due to its willful failure to compensate 
employees with overtime pay in violation of the Federal Labor Standards 
Act of 1938 (“FLSA”), 29 U.S.C. §§ 201, et seq., and The Ohio 
Minimum Wage Act [“the Ohio Wage Act”], O.R.C. §§ 4111.01, 
4111.03; 4111.10, committed by requiring its Customer Service 
Representatives to start their daily shifts by booting up its computer 
system but then omitting the time it takes each Representative each day 
for the process of booting up from its calculation of the hours Customer 
Service Representatives have worked that week and by failing to 
maintain records of all the hours so worked by those Representatives. 

 
Complaint, ¶ 1.  How Safelite accomplished its omission of booting up time was at most a 

secondary proof issue; whether Safelite omitted time integral to the job duties of CSRs was the 

primary liability issue. 

 As Plaintiffs established in their Reply Memorandum, Safelite’s Opposition 

Memorandum was not written out of some mistaken impression of the contours of this collective 

action or the primary liability issue.  Instead, Safelite changed after this lawsuit was 

commenced its procedure for starting paid time.  Plaintiffs had the right under S.D. Ohio Civ.R. 

7.2(d) to rebut Safelite’s claim that its procedure has always been to start paid time by logging in 

first and booting up second.   Safelite’s motion to strike should, therefore, be denied. 

      Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
      By:  /s/ John S. Marshall 
      John S. Marshall (0015160) 

(jmarshall@marshallandmorrow.com) 
      Edward R. Forman (0076651) 

(eforman@marshallandmorrow.com)   
 MARSHALL AND MORROW LLC 

      111 West Rich Street, Suite 430 
      Columbus, Ohio  43215-5296 
      (614) 463-9790 

Fax (614) 463-9780 
 

Robert E. DeRose (0055214) 
(bderose@bnhmlaw.com) 
Robert K. Handelman (0019589) 
(rhandelman@bnhmlaw.com) 
Katherine A. Stone (0085600) 
(kstone@bnhmlaw.com) 
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BARKAN, NEFF, HANDLEMAN, MEIZLISH, LLP 
360 South Grant Avenue 
Post Office Box 1989 
Columbus, Ohio 43216-1989 
(614) 221-4221 
Fax (614) 221-5808 

 
      Attorneys for Plaintiff 
 
   
OF COUNSEL: 
 
Louis A. Jacobs (002101) 
(LAJOhio@aol.com) 
66871 Rayo del Sol 
Desert Hot Springs, California, 92240-1871 
(614) 203-1255 
Fax (760) 288-2146 
 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
 This is to certify that a copy of the foregoing was filed with the Court on this 18th day of 
January, 2011 using the Court’s CM/ECF filing system, which will send notification of such filing to 
all counsel of record.  Parties may access this filing through the Court’s filing system. 
 
 
 
      By /s/ John S. Marshall 
      John S. Marshall (0015160) 
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